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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Welcome,

          3  everyone. I'm Bill Perkins, Chair of the City

          4  Council's Committee on Governmental Operations.

          5  Before I begin with my opening statement, I just

          6  want to acknowledge the other members of this

          7  Committee that are here.

          8                 The Chair of our Education Committee,

          9  Eva Moskowitz, the Chair of our Senior Centers

         10  Committee Michael Nelson, the Chair of our Health

         11  Committee Christine Quinn, the Chair of our Parks

         12  and Recreation Committee, Joseph Addabbo, Jr., and

         13  our Majority Whip and Chair of Rules, Privileges and

         14  Elections Committee Leroy Comrie.

         15                 We also have with us the Chair of our

         16  Select Committee on Technology in Government, Gale

         17  Brewer.

         18                 I want to also acknowledge the new

         19  Counsel to our Committee, Mr. Matthew Tollin.

         20                 Now let me just say, today we are

         21  turning to a topic that we have already discussed

         22  and voted on, Introductory Bill No. 238, a local law

         23  relating to the qualifications for office of City

         24  Council Member.

         25                 The Mayor, on August 20th, 2002,
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          2  vetoed Intro. 238. This veto was in response to a

          3  Council vote of 46 to two in favor of Intro. 238.

          4                 This Committee itself on July 23rd,

          5  2002, after hearing testimony from elected

          6  officials, good government groups, the Independence

          7  Party, labor business groups, civil rights groups,

          8  voted eight to zero in favor of Intro. 238.

          9                 Intro. 238 is a bill that seeks to

         10  fulfill the will of the people, a will that has not

         11  been fulfilled by an unfounded interpretation of the

         12  referendum of 1993.

         13                 The people did not desire to have

         14  Council members circumvent term limits by resigning

         15  right before the expiration of their second term

         16  only to run again for a third term. Intro 238

         17  remedies this anomaly.

         18                 And, second, it remedies the anomaly

         19  in which Council members serving, only serving six

         20  years, as opposed to the full eight years, exceptive

         21  by the voters and proponents of term limits, which

         22  was produced by technical aspects of the Charter

         23  that have nothing to do with term limits.

         24                 After much testimony, discussion and

         25  deliberation, this Committee stood firmly convinced
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          2  that the intent of the electorate was being flouted.

          3  As such, we voted to pass Intro. 238 to remedy the

          4  effects in the Charter.

          5                 Today the Committee will vote on

          6  whether to override the Mayor's veto of Intro. 238.

          7  For procedural clarity, we will be voting once on

          8  two coupled items.

          9                 The first item is a motion to receive

         10  and file M 302. The second item is the following

         11  substantive motion, shall Intro. 238 be repassed,

         12  notwithstanding the objections of the Mayor.

         13                 I am recommending a yes vote.

         14                 Are there any comments or questions

         15  from the members? There being none, we will proceed

         16  with the vote and I will call on the Counsel.

         17                 MR. TOLLIN: Perkins.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I am

         19  recommending a yes vote.

         20                 MR. TOLLIN: Nelson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: May I be

         22  excused to explain my vote?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, you may.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I offer

         25  hopefully ergo credibility, as the Brooklyn Bridge
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          2  song, the worst that can happen to me.  I would be

          3  number one in seniority in two years if this did not

          4  pass, but it has to, it has to be overridden. It's

          5  only right. We had the good government groups come

          6  in, NYPIRG, Citizens Union, we had the "Father of

          7  Term Limits" Ron Lauder come in and explain that it

          8  was the right thing to do, that the people, you have

          9  to suspend reality to think that the people expected

         10  some people getting six years, some people getting

         11  eight years and some people getting other amount of

         12  years, based upon all that I have no qualms about

         13  voting aye on this. Thank you.

         14                 MR. TOLLIN: Quinn.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: May I be

         16  excused to explain my vote?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: By all means.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, first,

         19  just to clear the record, I, too, would not be

         20  affected by this, but had we not done this, Mike

         21  would be tied with me, Jimmy, and Jimmy Oddo, for

         22  greater seniority, just in case things go awry on

         23  the floor, which I don't anticipate.

         24                 But I also just want to welcome the

         25  new Counsel and thank him for his e-mail of
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          2  introduction with all his numbers and how we can get

          3  in touch with him, and on that very significant and

          4  historic comment that I've made, I vote aye.

          5                 MR. TOLLIN: Moskowitz.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I vote aye.

          7                 MR. TOLLIN: Addabbo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye.

          9                 MR. TOLLIN: Comrie.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye.

         11                 MR. TOLLIN: By a vote of six in the

         12  affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         13  abstentions, and 302 is filed, and Intro. 238 is

         14  readopted, and the vote will remain open.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: One of our

         16  members, Madeline Provenzano, is on her way and so

         17  we are going to hold the vote open until she

         18  arrives, and I suspect that she's on her -- she's at

         19  the door. Nothing like a little drama.

         20                 Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano,

         21  it's on you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: You

         23  realize this means I have to run again. I vote yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Can we have, for the record, a final

          3  tally.

          4                 MR. TOLLIN: The vote now stands at

          5  seven in the affirmative, zero in the negative and

          6  no abstentions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much. We're going to take a five-minute recess

          9  before we reconvene for the second item on our

         10  agenda for this afternoon.

         11                 I want to thank the members for their

         12  diligence on this last vote and look forward to

         13  similar diligence in future votes.

         14                 (Recess taken.)

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good afternoon.

         16  This is the Governmental Operations Committee

         17  reconvening, and at this time I again want to

         18  welcome the members of the Governmental Operations

         19  Committee, and at the appropriate time I will ask

         20  Councilwoman Gale Brewer, the Chair of our Select

         21  Committee on Technology in Government, to introduce

         22  her staff and our Policy Analyst and Attorneys, as

         23  well as to make a statement.

         24                 For those of you who were not here

         25  before, I just want to acknowledge the members of my

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            10

          1  GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  Committee that are here. Once again, the outstanding

          3  chairwoman of our Education Committee Eva Moskowitz,

          4  and then of course there's the outstanding Council

          5  Member from the Bronx, who is the Chairwoman of our

          6  Housing and Buildings Committee, Madeline

          7  Provenzano. This is to help you come to meetings.

          8                 And, of course, there's the other

          9  outstanding Councilwoman from the Great Borough of

         10  Manhattan, who chairs our Health Committee, Council

         11  Member Christine Quinn, who has stepped away and

         12  will be right back.

         13                 Then coming out of the great Borough

         14  of Queens, and with the legacy of his father being a

         15  great Congressman, great Council Member, following

         16  in that great legacy, Joseph Addabbo, Jr., who

         17  chairs our Parks and Recreation Committee.

         18                 Also coming out of the great Borough

         19  of Queens, our Majority Whip, who also chairs our

         20  Rules, Privileges and Elections Committee, Council

         21  Member Leroy Comrie. Also we have coming out of that

         22  Borough of Kings, Kings County, Brooklyn also known,

         23  the one and only Chairman of our Senior Centers

         24  Committee, fighting veteran, Councilman Mike Nelson.

         25  And now Chris Quinn has returned, again, we want you
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          2  to know that she's the Chairwoman of our wonderful

          3  Health Committee.

          4                 I also want to reintroduce to those

          5  of you who may not know, our new Counsel to the

          6  Governmental Operations Committee, Matthew Tollin.

          7                 This is a hearing focusing on

          8  technology in government, and particularly a bill

          9  called Intro. No. 119, electronic reporting of

         10  official reports, and this is a rather extraordinary

         11  hearing, quite in tune with the overall mandate and

         12  vision of this Governmental Operations Committee.

         13                 I want to take a note to pay special

         14  respect and appreciation to the Policy Analyst for

         15  the Select Committee, Mr. Nick Noe, and for the

         16  outstanding work he's done in preparing this

         17  hearing.

         18                 Today's hearing is on Introductory

         19  Bill No. 119, a local law relating to the

         20  requirement that official reports issued by the City

         21  and its agency be made available to the public on

         22  the World Wide Web.

         23                 This hearing will be conducted

         24  jointly by the Governmental Operations and Select

         25  Committee on Technology in Government, which has
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          2  provided great support on bringing this issue to

          3  light and drafting the preliminary legislation to

          4  implement the mandate.

          5                 Let me begin by again expressing my

          6  appreciation to the Committee members and to again

          7  Gale Brewer of the Select Committee.

          8                 Why should we require the publishing

          9  of official reports on the web? Because the

         10  technological capacity exists to do it, and doing it

         11  will bring us one step closer to making government

         12  as open and accessible to the people that's

         13  possible.

         14                 Representative government should not

         15  be shrouded a mystery. Representative government

         16  should not inform the people through well tailored

         17  an purposely soundbite and press releases.

         18                 Recent revolutionary developments in

         19  technology afford us the opportunity to better

         20  integrate our constituents into the political

         21  process, and we should take advantage of such an

         22  auspicious opportunity.

         23                 Additionally, Intro. 119 gives us a

         24  chance to upgrade government. It gives us a chance

         25  to streamline administrative efficiency and
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          2  presentability.

          3                 The federal government, in Government

          4  Paper Reduction Act of 1995, has already mandated on

          5  the federal level, and initiated implementation of

          6  the migration of information to the electronic

          7  dissemination systems.

          8                 Intro. 119, not nearly a sweeping a

          9  mandate as the Paper Reduction Act of 1995, is a

         10  step in the right direction of creating a more

         11  efficient cost saving and environmentally friendly

         12  paperless government that does not waste its

         13  precious resources or time.

         14                 Although Intro. 119 is no panacea for

         15  government accessibility, efficiency and openness,

         16  however, it is a commitment to increasing our

         17  technological sophistication.

         18                 This hearing will be an exploratory

         19  exercise. We will hear witness testimony that will

         20  let us know the current trend in this arena and the

         21  capability that we possess to propel us forward in

         22  this field.

         23                 Intro. 119 offers us a chance to make

         24  our government state-of-the-art. It will be a first

         25  for New York and I believe a first for City
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          2  government and government generally.

          3                 Please join me in welcoming Council

          4  Member Brewer, who also wishes to say a few words.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          7  much. I'm Gale Brewer, and I want to thank my

          8  colleague and my friend, Council Member Perkins, and

          9  all the members of the Government Operations

         10  Committee for collaborating with the Technology

         11  Committee.

         12                 I think Council Member Moskowitz

         13  knows what this Committee is about, she did a great

         14  job previous to assuming education as head of this

         15  Committee, and I just want to mention to her a

         16  recent story which shows the need I think for this

         17  effort, which is that there's a new Heshel High

         18  School on the west side on 60th and West End Avenue.

         19  It is a wireless school. It opened five days ago.

         20  Every student has a laptop. There are smart boards.

         21  One student can talk to another via his or her

         22  laptop, and it's really exciting.

         23                 And then right across the street is

         24  Martin Luther King, Jr., High School, a school that

         25  I've been in probably hundreds of times. There are
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          2  no laptop computers. Even the computer room is

          3  challenged, and some students last semester, I hope

          4  it will change this semester, had to run around the

          5  school in order to be able to find a computer.

          6                 So, I think we have a challenge ahead

          7  of us on this bill, but it's a start and I think an

          8  example is in the education system, a place that we

          9  will not forget, in terms of better computers.

         10                 I want to join Council Member Perkins

         11  in thanking all of the witnesses who have come to

         12  share their expertise today. Some of you have come

         13  several times and are sort of working with this on

         14  this journey.

         15                 As always, I want to join Council

         16  Member Perkins in thanking Nick Noe, who is the

         17  Policy Analyst in this Committee. If there's one

         18  person who can make a difference in the history of

         19  New York at a very young age, he's doing that.

         20                 He, for instance, put the report that

         21  we did on 9/11 and technology that's up on the web,

         22  the briefing paper, which is being distributed

         23  today, is live in a sense, in other words, it's up

         24  on the net already, and the list goes on.

         25                 He's going to show you in a few
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          2  minutes page 20 from that briefing report on the

          3  spread sheet, and I'll talk about it, as to the

          4  examples of some of the reports that we would like

          5  to put up as part of Intro. 119.

          6                 It's a bill that I introduced. I'd

          7  like to talk for a few minutes about the purpose of

          8  this bill.

          9                 Our goal is to create a more open

         10  government. One of the reasons I ran for office is

         11  for the last 30 years I have been a proponent of

         12  making government information public, and I think a

         13  tool to do that is technology. And this bill will

         14  make information more easily and broadly accessible

         15  to the general public and to the many people and

         16  organizations who actually participate in making

         17  government more accountable.

         18                 We will hear testimony from many

         19  individuals.

         20                 The City's website, NYC.GOV, has a

         21  rich variety of materials and has received much

         22  deserved praise and awards across the US. NYC.GOV

         23  has been a success at making operations of City

         24  agencies more efficient, given the public direct

         25  access to services.
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          2                 However, thus far the various

          3  branches of City government have been less

          4  systematic in making policy documents and other

          5  public reports available on the web.

          6                 Intro. 119 will remedy this by making

          7  sure that all reports that agencies are already

          8  required to publish are disseminated on the web.

          9                 For instance, I went on this morning

         10  and looked and searched under audits, and if you

         11  look under audits quite a few reports, a lot of

         12  operational material, but it's hard to figure out

         13  exactly what is the list of audits that have been

         14  done on a policy perspective.

         15                 Second, I would like to emphasize

         16  that this bill can potentially save the City

         17  significant resources. Reports that are currently

         18  printed and distributed on paper will not be

         19  eliminated by this bill. But as more and more people

         20  access reports directly from the web, the volume of

         21  reports that the City needs to print will decline

         22  saving money and the environment.

         23                 In addition, City staff will spend

         24  less time responding to requests for copies of

         25  reports.
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          2                 Finally, I just want to note that

          3  today's bill would keep New York City in the

          4  forefront of effort, as Council Member Perkins

          5  mentioned, to use the web to communicate. We will be

          6  the first city or state to do this.

          7                 We look forward to achieving this

          8  very significant milestone and enhancing the

          9  accountability of government.

         10                 And with that, I think we should just

         11  begin, Mr. Co-Chair, Chair of Government Operations,

         12  with our first witness.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Please don't

         14  demote me.

         15                 Is there any other member of the

         16  Committee that wants to make some opening remarks?

         17  Okay.

         18                 Roger Corbit, thank you for joining

         19  us.

         20                 Okay, the first panel will consist of

         21  the General Counsel for the Department of

         22  Information Technology and Telecommunications, Mr.

         23  Augostino Cangemi. I guess I can read your brief

         24  bio.

         25                 Has served as General Counsel for New
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          2  York City's Department of Information and

          3  Technology, DoITT, since November 2000.

          4                 In addition, Mr. Cangemi has served

          5  as DoITT's Deputy Commissioner for Franchise

          6  Administration and Planning since July 2001.

          7                 In this capacity he oversees all

          8  cable television, public pay telephone, open video,

          9  mobile and high-capacity telecommunications

         10  franchises with the City. He is also responsible for

         11  helping to formulate and promote City

         12  telecommunications policy.

         13                 Welcome. Thank you for your public

         14  service. We look forward to your testimony and some

         15  ensuing questions and dialogue.

         16                 We normally ask our witnesses to be

         17  sworn in prior to giving their testimony. One

         18  moment, please. We will forego the swearing in for

         19  the moment.

         20                 You may begin.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CANGEMI: Thank

         22  you very much, Council Member Perkins, Council

         23  Member Brewer, and the other members of this

         24  Committee.

         25                 With me today, I'd also like to
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          2  introduce Larry Knafo, he's a Deputy Commissioner

          3  for Strategic Technology Development, and if there

          4  are extraordinarily technical questions that I can't

          5  handle, he'll be able to answer those kinds of

          6  questions for you.

          7                 We appreciate the opportunity to

          8  appear before you today to provide testimony on

          9  Intro. 119.

         10                 As a preliminary matter, I want to

         11  commend the apparent goal of the bill, as I see it.

         12  As you know, Mayor Bloomberg aggressively advocates

         13  using technology to enhance communications,

         14  accountability and efficiency in government.

         15                 The Mayor's determination in this

         16  regard, for example, a driving force behind the

         17  soon-to-be-launched 3-1-1 municipal information

         18  service.

         19                 I feel compelled at the onset to

         20  point out that even as it continues to evolve,

         21  NYC.GOV is an extraordinarily robust site. Besides

         22  containing approximately 50,000 pages of content, it

         23  provides over 200 on-line transactional services to

         24  citizens, including the ability to get birth and

         25  death certificates, parking tickets, immunization
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          2  records and those kinds of transactions.

          3                 NYC.GOV is also available for

          4  obtaining reliable information on public health and

          5  safety, affecting the metropolitan area.

          6                 After the September 11th attacks on

          7  the World Trade Center, NYC.GOV offered citizens

          8  vital emergency information. And months later, the

          9  site continues to provide recovery-related

         10  information. With over 15 million pages viewed per

         11  month, traffic has remained high since the crisis.

         12                 In sum, under the direction of City

         13  Hall, through the efforts of scores of City

         14  employees, and, certainly, by virtue of the

         15  commitment of resources, NYC.GOV has earned an

         16  international reputation for quality and

         17  distinction.

         18                 With respect to Intro. 119, as

         19  currently drafted, the bill would require all

         20  "official reports" generated by the City or its

         21  agencies, the City Council, the Public Advocate and

         22  the Comptroller to be posted on NYC.GOV.

         23                 Intro. 119 would further require the

         24  now defunct Office of New Media, or presumably, its

         25  successor, the Office of Enterprise Application
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          2  Management and Support, to maintain records of

          3  agency compliance.

          4                 I would like to emphasize the

          5  Administration's desire to work cooperatively with

          6  the Council to accomplish the apparent goal of this

          7  bill; that is, making certain that appropriate City

          8  reports that are not already posted on NYC.GOV be

          9  published there as expeditiously as possible.

         10                 At the same time, we have two areas

         11  of concern, two principal areas of concern.

         12                 First, and assuming that binding

         13  legislation is necessary to accomplish the bill's

         14  goals, we believe that "official reports" must be

         15  more specifically defined.

         16                 Second, and of quite serious concern,

         17  we do not think that the Office of Enterprise

         18  Application Management and Support is the

         19  appropriate entity to oversee agency compliance -

         20  much less compliance by the City Council, the Public

         21  Advocate or the Comptroller.

         22                 With respect to the first concern,

         23  unless "official reports", the defined term

         24  "official reports" is more specifically defined,

         25  thousands of documents of relatively minor interest
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          2  could potentially be required to be posted on

          3  NYC.GOV. That raises certain issues.

          4                 First, there would unavoidably be a

          5  cost to taxpayers. Some documents, particularly

          6  those produced by larger agencies already employing

          7  their own web masters could be posted at little or

          8  no incremental cost. But in other cases, it would be

          9  far more burdensome, primarily in terms of new

         10  headcount and associated personnel cost.

         11                 In addition, we must be mindful that

         12  more is not always better. An overly broad web

         13  publication mandate could in some ways lead to a

         14  degradation of the site itself.

         15                 The City has devoted a great deal of

         16  attention to producing a portal that is both useful

         17  and user-friendly.

         18                 NYC.GOV currently includes reports

         19  and other features not officially required by the

         20  add code or law, including, for example, Capstat

         21  measurements of the quality of municipal services.

         22  Site content is presented in a highly compelling

         23  manner and complies with federal accessibility laws.

         24                 If "official reports" were to be too

         25  broadly defined, the site could conceivably become
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          2  little more than a difficult to navigate "dumping

          3  ground" for documents, and links to PDF files of

          4  little or no value to the public.

          5                 Under a worst case scenario,

          6  "discretionary," or "non-official" content of much

          7  greater value to the public, as well as interactive

          8  e-Government services, could be forced off the site

          9  due to finite resources.

         10                 Finally, in defining "official

         11  reports," we urge the Council to remain cognizant of

         12  potentially public safety and personal privacy

         13  issues. While the City has not had the opportunity

         14  to thoroughly review every document that could

         15  conceivably be encompassed by the inclusive

         16  language, the broadly inclusive language of Intro.

         17  119 as currently drafted, web publication of certain

         18  "official reports," for example, to law enforcement

         19  and health records might ultimately be deemed

         20  inappropriate.

         21                 Let me now emphasize our second area

         22  of concern; that is, that the Office of Enterprise

         23  Application Management and Support is the wrong

         24  entity to oversee compliance with a web posting

         25  mandate.
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          2                 It's essentially a very technical

          3  office. We provide technical assistance to a number

          4  of agencies, and have never played an oversight role

          5  over the agencies.

          6                 The primary role of the office is to

          7  manage development of, and indeed to implement

          8  technologies that support the evolving nature of

          9  NYC.GOV.  The role also includes providing technical

         10  support to City agencies that want their content

         11  published on NYC.GOV.

         12                 The Enterprise Application Office is

         13  a wholly technical entity, whose mission is not to

         14  oversee, determine the appropriateness of, or in any

         15  way "keep tabs" on City agencies with regard to what

         16  they post on NYC.GOV. Nor is the office equipped to

         17  assume such a mission.

         18                 The office currently consists of a

         19  small technical staff. To impose on it now the

         20  oversight responsibilities envisioned in Intro. 119

         21  - of having to track compliance with a major new

         22  legal mandate - could force a fundamental

         23  restructuring of that office, and turn it into,

         24  perhaps develop a new bureaucratic layer that may be

         25  unnecessary.
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          2                 Any such restructuring would

          3  inevitably be for the worse. The successes of

          4  NYC.GOV are largely attributable to the office's

          5  focused mission, the Enterprise Application Office's

          6  focused mission. Thus, as you know, the office is

          7  currently charged with a complicated and

          8  time-consuming task of implementing an enterprise

          9  management tool known as Interwoven. Deputy

         10  Commissioner Knafo could better describe Interwoven,

         11  if you like.

         12                 The office is also focused on

         13  implementing technologies that will make NYC.GOV an

         14  even more robust e-Government portal, to deliver

         15  many more on-line services.

         16                 Finally, the office will implement

         17  technical aspects related to integrating NYC.GOV

         18  with the 3-1-1 information system. Therefore, as you

         19  can imagine, this small group of employees has quite

         20  a "full plate" going forward. We are extremely

         21  concerned that a new oversight role for the office

         22  could sidetrack implementation of these

         23  high-priority projects.

         24                 Again, we applaud the intent of the

         25  bill. And while we do have these two areas of
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          2  concern with the bill as currently drafted, we do

          3  not view them as insurmountable. The Administration

          4  intends to continue to make itself available to the

          5  Council, and, indeed, is eager to take as active a

          6  role as we are requested to take in refining the

          7  bill - if legislation is deemed necessary to

          8  accomplish its objectives.

          9                 This includes helping to determine

         10  those additional reports and documents which need to

         11  be published on NYC.GOV, and identifying a more

         12  appropriate oversight entity - the extent that

         13  entity is needed to ensure compliance with the

         14  bill's goals.

         15                 Thank you very much, and we'd be glad

         16  to answer any of your questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         18  much for your testimony, and especially the spirit

         19  of cooperation that is evident in your testimony,

         20  and the spirit of appreciation for what it is that

         21  this bill is attempting to do. Clearly, you can

         22  appreciate how much of a priority concern this is

         23  for us, as a Council, and for this Committee, these

         24  two Committees in particular.

         25                 And, so, while you acknowledge some
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          2  difficulties in accepting the legislation fully, you

          3  don't see any unsurmountable obstacles to address

          4  what the bill is attempting to do.

          5                 You recognize that there is a need

          6  for some oversight entity. You don't particularly

          7  acknowledge that the one suggested is the

          8  appropriate one. And, of course, like us you

          9  recognize that not everything could be put up on the

         10  Internet, but that more should be put up on the

         11  Internet. And, so, that's appreciated as well.

         12                 And I would hope that in that spirit

         13  that this hearing is the first in a series of not

         14  simply hearings but also behind the scenes

         15  discussions and negotiations as to how we can

         16  fashion a bill that will meet the interest of the

         17  people of the City of New York, as we move into this

         18  new technological era.

         19                 With that in mind, I would like to

         20  give the Chairwoman of the Select Committee an

         21  opportunity to raise some questions and concerns.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you. I'll

         23  be quick.

         24                 First of all, you're going to laugh,

         25  but we only have one liquid display LCD here, so
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          2  that has to go over to General Welfare. That's

          3  pretty funny. So, it's going to have to move.

          4                 But before it does, my question is

          5  this: Nick Noe has put together a list of about 127

          6  mandated -- it's hard to define, are they reports,

          7  are they official documents? We find as we go

          8  through the same word now is used for a similar

          9  piece of paper. But in any case, something that's

         10  mandated from the administrative code, the Charter,

         11  and an executive order.

         12                 So, we did, taking your suggestion

         13  from the last meeting we had internally, Nick put

         14  together, you can see a sample of page 20 from the

         15  briefing book, and it's really interesting. It talks

         16  about the Board of Estimate, for those of us who've

         17  got gray hair, we remember the Board of Estimate.

         18  And it talks a lot about reports that were mandated

         19  by the Board of Estimate.

         20                 So, it says two things, one, the

         21  admin code and the Charter and executive orders

         22  perhaps need to be updated, but in addition, I'm

         23  saying, that gives us a start, to answer your very

         24  good questions as to how one defines it.

         25                 So, I want to know if you think that
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          2  would be a beginning of that kind of search that

          3  Nick has made?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CANGEMI: I think

          5  it's an excellent start. I received this morning

          6  from Nick, or earlier today from Nick what's on the

          7  panel there, a description of some of the reports.

          8  Just taking a quick glance, I have the same

          9  observations. There's a certain staleness to some of

         10  the reports. Some of the reports don't strike me as

         11  necessarily being particularly relevant in today's

         12  day and age, as compared to some of the content

         13  that's already on NYC.GOV.

         14                 But I think it's a good start. I

         15  think taking a look at those reports, being

         16  cognizant of any privacy issues. Even though some of

         17  these reports are already required to be made

         18  public, there may be certain privacy issues that we

         19  would want to consider, in terms of putting it on

         20  the most public forum of all, on the web.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         22                 And the second quick issue is, then

         23  of course I'll turn it over to colleagues, is that

         24  there certainly could be some discussion about the

         25  oversight.
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          2                 I understand this new office, I don't

          3  know who in the world came up with this new name,

          4  because I could never remember it, we've got to do

          5  better with that one, even the acronym doesn't add

          6  up, but anyway whatever this office is called.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CANGEMI: IAMS

          8  (phonetic).

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Media. New Media

         10  I remember. In any case, certainly there could be

         11  some discussion as to what the appropriate body is.

         12  Maybe archives. You know, there is some possibility,

         13  people who deal with this every day.

         14                 Anyway, so others may have questions,

         15  Council Member Perkins.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Sure.

         17                 You know, we are, this is I would say

         18  a work-in-progress. I don't see this as a one-stop

         19  piece of legislation that says, okay, this is what

         20  we put in, and this is who oversees it and so on and

         21  so forth. I think that we are evolving something,

         22  and that at different points in time we're going to

         23  have to continue to review and upgrade and redefine

         24  so that the things don't become stale, and that what

         25  we want to accomplish in terms of information to the
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          2  people, or accessibility, is made available.

          3                 Any questions from the members?

          4                 Okay, let me ask a question. What

          5  types or categories of information is the

          6  Administration planning to make available on-line

          7  within the next two to three years? What types of

          8  categories of information is the Administration

          9  planning to accept on line within the next two three

         10  years?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CANGEMI: One

         12  thing that's critical to understand is that content

         13  is really largely driven by the agencies, but over

         14  the next two years, my agency, well, DoITT, the

         15  agency I work for, will focus on expanding the

         16  knowledge collected as part of the 3-1-1 knowledge

         17  base. So, as information is collected from agencies

         18  that will serve the 3-1-1 call takers, kind of, I

         19  call it almost an insider's guide to government,

         20  that information will be posted on the web. And we

         21  also have plans to redesign the NYC.GOV site to be

         22  more dynamic and capable of quickly posting

         23  important City information.

         24                 As I mentioned, there are already

         25  50,000 pages of content. That's continually grown
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          2  over the years and we expect that to continue to

          3  grow.

          4                 We want to make sure that the content

          5  that we provide is relevant and timely and useful to

          6  the public.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: What is a

          8  reasonable time period for requiring that reports be

          9  posted on-line?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CANGEMI: Well, it

         11  actually is dependent on how we end up defining the

         12  term reports.

         13                 There are certain reports that are

         14  due on an annual basis. There are certain reports

         15  that might be a page and certain reports that may be

         16  thousands of pages.

         17                 And the reason why I link the two is,

         18  if we go forward with the legislation and we want to

         19  be compliant with federal law as to accessibility,

         20  generally there is the need to have the information

         21  posted in html.

         22                 I took a look, html is a format that

         23  actually allows computer software to be used by

         24  visually impaired persons that will translate a web

         25  site into sound so they can actually scroll across a
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          2  web site and hear what is apparent on the web site.

          3                 Transferring a document onto html can

          4  be timely, if it's a long document. But I

          5  understand, just from some of the information that

          6  is presented in the packet, that there may have been

          7  some advancement in PDF formatting. That would

          8  greatly improve the time, it would diminish the

          9  amount of time necessary, because PDF is a

         10  relatively easy way to get documents on line

         11  quickly. I wasn't aware of that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: That came about

         13  because I went to a meeting at the Jewish Guild for

         14  the Blind and I went right to the computer room,

         15  like straight, and I said to the guy, "Angel, what

         16  is the story with the most up-to-date ADA

         17  compliance?" And Angel had a whole new story. This

         18  is how fast it changes. Because he had met with

         19  DoITT three months earlier, and the situation was

         20  different than it was three months later in terms of

         21  compatibility and accessibility for ADA.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you have any

         23  other questions?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I just wanted to

         25  know, quickly, in terms of the Interwoven package
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          2  that you have purchased --

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CANGEMI: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I wanted to know,

          5  why was Interwoven awarded?

          6                 I know that we all spent a lot of

          7  time trying to figure out what the best packages

          8  are, and how will it empower individual agencies to

          9  post content and reports on line?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Before you

         11  answer that, let me just add, explain what the

         12  Interwoven package is, for those of us on this side

         13  that don't know what Interwoven is.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CANGEMI: Okay.

         15  What it does, it actually is a software package

         16  which has created templates that allow non-technical

         17  users to quickly upload a common format document,

         18  such as Word, Microsoft Word, and power point files

         19  to the web. The templates can be created by our

         20  staff, for agencies with limited web capabilities,

         21  as well as by more experienced agencies.

         22                 And as to your question to what it

         23  does is essentially you fill in the blanks and

         24  you're able to bring information to the web more

         25  quickly than traditionally.
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          2                 Interwoven was selected after an

          3  analysis of various contact management solutions. It

          4  was based on our specific business requirements

          5  surrounding the management of NYC.GOV content, and

          6  the wide range of capabilities provided by

          7  Interwoven prove to be the best solution to address

          8  not only NYC.GOV needs, but the needs of managing

          9  3-1-1 content, as well as content for the City's

         10  Intranet.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CANGEMI: Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         15  much for your testimony and for your response to the

         16  questions.

         17                 Again, we are very anxious to sit

         18  down with you and work out a way in which we can

         19  move this bill forward that is compatible with the

         20  needs of the people of the City of New York and

         21  addresses some of the concerns that you have brought

         22  forward, as well as some of the concerns that we

         23  have. And I would sort of hope that we can reconvene

         24  in another way as soon as possible with the

         25  Administration and work some of these things out,
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          2  okay? Thank you very much.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CANGEMI: Thank

          4  you. And we look forward to working with you, as

          5  well. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: We're going to

          7  go to our next panel. This is panel two. And I would

          8  say to all those who are going to be participating,

          9  that in the interest of time I may at this point ask

         10  people to give abbreviated versions of their

         11  testimony.

         12                 One reason why is that there is

         13  another hearing about to take place at 2:00, which

         14  some of our members would have to attend. And in

         15  addition to that, if we are not careful, this

         16  hearing can go to 5:00 before we get to some of the

         17  public, and I don't want to do that.

         18                 So, I'm going to ask folks to try to

         19  give somewhat of an abbreviated version so that we

         20  can also have more time to act with you in terms of

         21  questions and other kinds of observations.

         22                 So, now with panel two we're going to

         23  call Mr. Richard Lieberman, the Director of the

         24  LaGuardia and Wagner Archives Office of LaGuardia

         25  Community College. Ms. Beth Haroules, Staff Attorney
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          2  for New York Civil Liberties Union. Mr. Dave Palmer,

          3  Government Reform Advocate for New York Public

          4  Interest Research Group. Mr. David Fogel, Board

          5  Member of the Citizens Union.

          6                 And for members, you have a brief bio

          7  of each of the panelists for the sake of your

          8  interest. So, we're going to keep going.

          9                 We're not going to swear you in

         10  today. This will be the last time you appear before

         11  this Committee without being sworn in, but we expect

         12  you to be as honest and forthcoming and accountable

         13  as if we had sworn you in. And we look forward to

         14  seeing you again for other matters.

         15                 You decide how you want to begin, but

         16  please identify yourself and the organization that

         17  you're representing.

         18                 MR. LIEBERMAN: Hello. I'd like to

         19  begin first because I have to pick up my son at

         20  school. I have a lot of obligations today for a

         21  little ten-year-old boy, so I'd like to make my

         22  remarks first.

         23                 I'm Richard Lieberman, the Director

         24  of LaGuardia Wagner Archives, and in my abbreviated

         25  version, what I can say about the archives and the
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          2  highlight of it is that we do house the City Council

          3  papers. As some of you know, we now have about 2,000

          4  feet of City Council documents, we also have the

          5  personal papers of many of the Mayors of New York

          6  City of the 20th century.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Do you have the

          8  Giuliani papers? I'm sorry. Sorry.

          9                 MR. LIEBERMAN: That was the other

         10  hearing. Not yet.

         11                 And we also have the papers of the

         12  New York City Housing Authority.

         13                 One of the things that I guess brings

         14  me to this table is that we also have a website

         15  which is used by about 1,000 people a week, and on

         16  that website we have about 30,000 photographs, and I

         17  would emphasize, coming after what was just said by

         18  the Administration, that the most used part of our

         19  web site are the photographs.

         20                 First place, beyond everything else,

         21  and we have to keep that in mind. Also what makes

         22  our photographs so useful is that you can sort

         23  through them by year, by subject, by name, by place.

         24  Our documents are not available on line. If you went

         25  to our web site, what you would get is an index of
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          2  our folders, but you can search by name, by subject,

          3  by year, for folder titles. Once you get a list of

          4  those folders, you call us and then we can provide

          5  you with the documents.

          6                 I've read the proposed local law to

          7  require that official report be made available to

          8  the web, and I applaud it. I think it's intense,

          9  it's exciting. I think the ideas are exciting. I

         10  think it's an excellent way to make the statement

         11  that our government is open and accessible.

         12                 But I have a few concerns, and a few

         13  answers to those concerns.

         14                 One of my concerns is to make the web

         15  site user-friendly. My fear, as has just been said,

         16  is that the useful information will be buried by

         17  masses of data that is no longer of use and no

         18  interest to anyone in New York.

         19                 The digitization, a hard word to say,

         20  the digitization of these reports might well create

         21  a mountain of indigestible information. I suggest

         22  that we place the highest priority on what other New

         23  York City repositories, like the LaGuardia and

         24  Wagner Archives, like DORIS, will then share with

         25  the Council what we have found to be the most
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          2  popular parts of our collection, and that's a very

          3  good place to start, in terms of labeling what parts

          4  of City's government in the past have been in

          5  demand, and we start with those records, and we

          6  start digitizing this day forward, the information

          7  that's been on demand by the public and by City

          8  government.

          9                 There should also be a tremendous

         10  emphasis on indexing and on outreach.

         11                 Now, from my experience, as I've

         12  already said, I recommend that we place a heavy

         13  emphasis on the photographs, and that what we might

         14  do is require that all City agencies that do take

         15  photographs use digitized cameras so that the

         16  photographs could then be put immediately on the web

         17  site.

         18                 In addition, I would suggest there be

         19  a special section in this web site called "What Is

         20  In The News." And all City reports relating to

         21  current news items should be a special section on

         22  the web site.

         23                 For example, the front page story in

         24  today's New York Times, "'Radio Problem Could Last

         25  Years,' Fire Department says," the important report
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          2  on yesterday's City Council hearing on the Fire

          3  Department's response to 9/11. Wouldn't it be

          4  wonderful, for the readers interested in knowing

          5  more, to be able to read in that New York Times

          6  article that if you want to know more about this

          7  story, there is a complete testimony on-line of

          8  Commissioner Nicholas Scoppetta available on the

          9  City's web site?

         10                 I've used the City Council web site

         11  for my own work, obviously, and applaud it as an

         12  excellent first draft, but now we must move on and

         13  my sense is that this hearing is the first step.

         14                 As I said, we must pay special

         15  attention to indexing. For example, on the Council's

         16  current web site there's a six-page list of Council

         17  reports. Those reports document the last 12 years of

         18  Council business. This is an important database. But

         19  in the future, as we move forward, as we move

         20  towards digitizing reports, we should require that

         21  every report have an index.

         22                 Now, this is simple to do with

         23  indexing software, so that a report like "Paying to

         24  Play: Rising Prices in New York City," which was

         25  published in August of 2000, would become even more
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          2  useful if it were indexed.

          3                 In addition, we might think of

          4  publishing a monthly on-line newsletter highlighting

          5  specific documents in the collection that reveal

          6  something new about our City. This could possibly be

          7  a cooperative venture with CUNY faculty members.

          8                 In addition, we should definitely be

          9  working with fourth and fifth grade teachers who are

         10  desperately seeking documents. They're required to

         11  use documents in their courses. They come to the

         12  archives every day through e-mail, through tours

         13  asking us for documents. Here you sit with a policy

         14  and a local law that's going to digitize documents,

         15  these are the people teaching fourth and fifth grade

         16  New Yorkers who are looking for documents. We should

         17  include them in these hearings, we should include

         18  them in terms of their desires.

         19                 In conclusion, in my abbreviated

         20  version, it has been my experience that it is

         21  crucial for archives, no matter whether it is boxes

         22  of papers or 100 gigabytes of reports, to think

         23  about access and to think about who will be using

         24  the collection. This local law, to make available

         25  public documents through the Internet can accomplish
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          2  this, but we must be concerned with not only the

          3  documents, but the audience that will be using it.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 Let me ask you quickly, before we go

          8  to the next one, just in terms of this demand issue:

          9  Clearly, you mentioned in terms of the archives

         10  photographs are in high demand; what else is in high

         11  demand, from an archive point of view?

         12                 MR. LIEBERMAN: The correspondence,

         13  the Mayor's correspondence, very in high demand.

         14  Different mayors labeled it "subject files," or

         15  "mayors' correspondence," some mayors call it

         16  "departmental correspondence," but the

         17  correspondence coming out of the Mayors' office,

         18  mayoral papers, is in high demand.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: And that's the

         20  correspondence more or less signed by the Mayor?

         21                 MR. LIEBERMAN: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay.

         23                 MR. LIEBERMAN: Also, because we have

         24  been taking in the City Council papers, we are now

         25  getting requests for local laws, and so people doing
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          2  research on local laws will come to us and say is

          3  there a local law on this issue? And we will look it

          4  up and then present. So, we're just starting to get

          5  an interest in local laws. Not just the published

          6  version of the local law, but what we have is the

          7  background information, the pro and con leading up

          8  to that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The hearings,

         10  so-to-speak.

         11                 MR. LIEBERMAN: The hearings. Which by

         12  the way, make excellent curriculum material, because

         13  it provides the children the background of the pro

         14  and con of what leads to legislation. So, it's no

         15  longer boring to the children, it's a battle, you

         16  know, and two sides that make a lot of sense. And

         17  it's a wonderful way to teach civics.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Sure. Thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I have one quick

         21  question, Richard, which is that the Mayor's site or

         22  NYC.GOV, or even the City Council site, what would

         23  be the length of time before something can be

         24  archived?

         25                 Let me give an example. Solid waste
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          2  is a hot topic now, and, obviously, there is a lot

          3  of reports on NYC.GOV, some probably that should be

          4  there in addition, but how long would you keep that

          5  on an NYC.GOV, and then would it go to an archive at

          6  NYC.GOV, or would it go to an archive at DORIS, or

          7  should it go to an archive at LaGuardia? Have you

          8  thought about this?

          9                 MR. LIEBERMAN: Well, DORIS has spent

         10  time on retention schedules, and, so, they have

         11  thought about retention schedules and it varies

         12  depending on the document. So, I think where we

         13  could start is a meeting, you know, which I would

         14  love to attend, with DORIS, to talk about when does

         15  a document then move from the web site to DORIS's

         16  web site, or to another web site? I mean, in this

         17  case we don't have a storage problem, we don't have

         18  a shelving problem, and we don't have an air

         19  conditioning problem.

         20                 MS. HAROULES: My name is Beth

         21  Haroules. I am a Staff Attorney at the New York

         22  Civil Liberties Union, NYCLU. The NYCLU is the New

         23  York State affiliate of the American Civil Liberties

         24  Union. The NYCLU has long been devoted to the

         25  protection and enhancement of those fundamental
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          2  rights and constitutional values embodied in the

          3  Bill of Rights.

          4                 I present testimony today, on behalf

          5  of the NYCLU, regarding a City Council proposal,

          6  Intro. No. 119, that would require posting on the

          7  City's web site of certain reports issued by the

          8  City Council and by various City offices and

          9  agencies.

         10                 In April of this year I testified at

         11  a public hearing chaired by Council Member Brewer

         12  regarding the use of technology to make City

         13  government "smart, cost-effective and open." It

         14  appears that Intro. 119 has been introduced in the

         15  interest of utilizing information technology in a

         16  manner that meets the dual objectives of openness

         17  and efficiency. We commend the City Council for

         18  proposing the deployment of information technology

         19  in a manner that fosters open and democratic

         20  government procedures and operations.

         21                 We note, however, that Intro. No. 119

         22  represents a modest first step in utilizing the

         23  world wide web as a means of enhancing public access

         24  to city records and documents.

         25                 While we recognize that such a first
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          2  step should not be delayed pending the creation of a

          3  comprehensive on-line reporting infrastructure, we

          4  are concerned that this limited initiative may not

          5  be consistent with the City Council's larger and

          6  perhaps longer-term objectives in this area.

          7                 Our concerns are two-fold: First, we

          8  believe the bill may create confusion, and perhaps

          9  interagency conflict, regarding the authority to

         10  make certain agency records available to the public.

         11  Under the city's Administrative Code, the Department

         12  of Records and Information Services, DORIS, collects

         13  and archives city records. DORIS administers the

         14  Municipal Reference and Research Center, also known

         15  as the Municipal Reference Library, which is how I

         16  shall refer to this agency, referenced in 23-201 of

         17  the Administrative Code. The Municipal Library is

         18  New York City's official depository for all official

         19  reports and studies published by New York City

         20  elected officials and government agencies.

         21                 However, DORIS and the Municipal

         22  Reference Library appear to play no role in the

         23  public reporting scheme described in Intro. 119;

         24  instead, the bill contemplates that the Office of

         25  New Media has sole responsibility for ensuring
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          2  agency compliance with the new electronic posting

          3  requirements for official reports. The concern here

          4  is that the Department of Information Technology,

          5  which administers the Office of New Media, may

          6  assume the role of censor, selecting certain

          7  documents, and excluding others, as suitable for

          8  electronic posting.

          9                 It would seem consistent with the

         10  legislative intent to mandate, according to a time

         11  line reflecting cost and feasibility, the creation

         12  of an "electronic" version of the Municipal

         13  Reference Library, thereby ensuring optimum access

         14  to agency records and other information collected

         15  and maintained by the City. At the very least, we

         16  suggest amending 23-204(c), as it appears in Intro.

         17  119. In its present form, this provision requires

         18  that each city office or agency file with the Office

         19  of New Media a monthly statement listing those

         20  reports uploaded to the City's web site. We propose

         21  requiring a concurrent reporting of such statements

         22  to DORIS.

         23                 Our second concern with Intro. No.

         24  119 I have already alluded to: It is that, as

         25  drafted, the bill may be interpreted as mandating
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          2  the electronic posting of only a small subset of

          3  documents and records maintained by the Municipal

          4  Reference Library. We urge that the City Council not

          5  unduly restrict the scope of materials to be posted

          6  on the City's web site, but rather mandate that all

          7  documents deposited by City agencies with the

          8  Municipal Reference Library are simultaneously made

          9  available on the site. Since it was established in

         10  1913, the Municipal Reference Library has served

         11  city and other governmental employees as well as the

         12  general public. The library's rich resources include

         13  annual and special reports of City agencies; budgets

         14  and other financial materials; minutes and

         15  proceedings of City boards and legislative bodies;

         16  and biographical files. See New York City Charter,

         17  Chapter 72, 3004(2). See also

         18  www.ci.nyc.ny.us/html/doris/home.html. DORIS in

         19  consultation with the City agencies and/or elected

         20  officials, and with Corporation Counsel and the City

         21  Comptroller, surveys the agencies' records and

         22  establishes a records transfer policy for those

         23  documents being conveyed by the agencies to the

         24  Municipal Reference Library. See 49 R.C.N.Y. 1-04.

         25                 Any propose to limit the scope of
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          2  information provided to the public via the Internet

          3  may serve, albeit inadvertently, as a legislative

          4  precedent that is invoked to justify the selective

          5  reporting of city records on line.

          6                 This limitation could have the effect

          7  of undermining the state's Freedom of Information of

          8  Law, FOIL. New York's FOIL reflects a strong

          9  commitment to open government and public

         10  accountability. The statute creates a duty upon the

         11  state and its agencies to make available public

         12  records under a broadly framed standard of

         13  disclosure. The law was enacted in furtherance of

         14  the public's vested and inherent "right-to-know,"

         15  affording all citizens with the means to obtain

         16  information concerning the day-to-day functioning of

         17  State and local government - thus providing the

         18  electorate with sufficient information "to make

         19  intelligent, informed choices with respect to both

         20  the direction and scope of governmental activities."

         21  See, e.g., Matter of Farbman & Sons v New York City

         22  Health and Hosps. Corp., 62 N.Y.2d 75, 79 (1984).

         23  The state's Freedom of Information Law is also

         24  intended to provide an effective mechanism for

         25  exposing waste, negligence and abuse on the part of
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          2  government officers. Id.

          3                 Federal law also embraces the notion

          4  that it is incumbent upon the government to make the

          5  work product of its departments and agencies

          6  accessible to the public. Toward this end, we

          7  respectfully suggest that the Committee members

          8  consider the federal Paperwork Reduction Act, 44

          9  U.S.C. 3501 et seq., as a workable model in

         10  undertaking this important initiative.

         11                 In making recommendations to broaden

         12  the scope of Int. No. 119, we are mindful that the

         13  capability required to convert paper documents into

         14  electronic files is contingent upon the financial

         15  and human resources the city is able to commit to

         16  such an initiative.

         17                 However, while the time frame for

         18  creating a comprehensive on-line reporting system

         19  that provides for "uploading" of new documents, will

         20  certainly be constrained by the resources committed

         21  to such an undertaking, this contingency need not

         22  constrain the City Council's commitment to this

         23  ultimate objective.

         24                 The NYCLU strongly recommends that

         25  the City Council state unequivocally that it has
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          2  introduced Int. No. 119 with the legislative intent

          3  of facilitating real-time access via the Internet to

          4  many, if not all, records of city offices,

          5  departments and agencies; and that this objective is

          6  undertaken in the interest of keeping the public

          7  informed; making transparent the policies and

          8  practices of government; and fostering a

          9  participatory democracy.

         10                 MR. PALMER: Good afternoon. The New

         11  York Public Interest Research Group has long

         12  advocated for more open city government. The City

         13  government has a duty to make information easily

         14  accessible to the public in a timely fashion. This

         15  is important in a democracy so that the public is

         16  kept well-informed and all who wish to participate

         17  can do so in real time.

         18                 NYPIRG works on a very broad range of

         19  issues. Often our staff is unable to obtain crucial

         20  information in a timely fashion. Reports are vital

         21  to groups outside of government; enabling them to

         22  understand government programs and monitor their

         23  performance. However, if the public information age,

         24  the City should take advantage of the technologies

         25  available, namely, the Internet, to make city
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          2  reports more readily available.

          3                 For these reasons, NYPIRG supports

          4  Intro 119 and, in general, its intent to post

          5  official reports issued by the city and its

          6  agencies, the Council, the Office of the Public

          7  Advocate and the Office of the Comptroller on the

          8  city's website.

          9                 There has been some discussion about

         10  how to define "official report" without having it be

         11  too limiting. NYPIRG supports allowing for the

         12  broadest definition possible, including adding other

         13  information not now defined as a report, so that the

         14  largest spectrum of reports would be covered by the

         15  provision and thus be available on the City's

         16  website.

         17                 In Albany, NYPIRG and other

         18  government reform advocates are pushing for better

         19  access to information through the Internet with a

         20  bill (A.7778) that would require information be

         21  posted that has a"substantial public interest." In

         22  an effort to broaden the scope of this Intro, we

         23  recommend that it also call for posting of

         24  additional information that has a "substantial

         25  public interest."
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          2                 NYPIRG believes a crucial addition to

          3  the current legislation should be an amendment that

          4  would mandate the creation of a "centralized

          5  clearinghouse" web page on the City's web page where

          6  one could quickly navigate the city's different

          7  agencies and branches of government to find reports.

          8                 Obviously, it is difficult to have

          9  knowledge of every report that is required by law.

         10                 In addition to helping informed

         11  bro2sers find a particular report, a centralized

         12  clearinghouse report page would make viewers,

         13  whether government employees, advocates, or members

         14  of the public, more aware of what reports exist. As

         15  some agencies are better than others in making

         16  reports available, and while the difficulty of

         17  navigating websites varies from agency to agency,

         18  having the agencies create a list of reports they

         19  are mandated to produce, as provided for in this

         20  intro, and creating a central site with personnel

         21  responsible for making sure that mandated reports

         22  are posted, would eliminate some of the problems,

         23  like time and resources spent looking, it would

         24  eliminate some of the problems derived from these

         25  inconsistencies.
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          2                 Lastly, on time period for posting

          3  reports, we believe that as soon as possible a

          4  report should be posted. We would assume that most

          5  of the reports that are produced today are produced

          6  electronically and therefore shouldn't take too long

          7  to get onto the Internet, and that allows for

          8  real-time analysis. So, that's a good thing.

          9                 We think that language links as soon

         10  as practicable can work, although a mandatory time

         11  period for posting all reports, for example, not

         12  later than five days after a report is issued in

         13  paper-based format may be even stronger.

         14                 So, while there are perhaps still

         15  many possible changes to consider, NYPIRG does

         16  support Intro. 119 and its intent to make City

         17  reports available on the web.

         18                 Again, I thank you for the

         19  opportunity to testify, and if this is kind of a

         20  first look, we look forward to participating in the

         21  process.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you, David.

         23                 MR. FOGEL: Good afternoon. My name is

         24  David Fogel, and I'm a Board Member of Citizens

         25  Union.
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          2                 I will offer some abbreviated

          3  remarks, in the interest of time.

          4                 Citizens Union believes that the

          5  primary goal of Intro. 119 is to make the reports of

          6  the City government, including City agencies, the

          7  Council, and other government bodies more accessible

          8  to the public. Citizens Union is supportive of this

          9  aim and of this specific legislation.

         10                 Now, as for the specifics of the

         11  legislation, let me speak to those, please.

         12                 First, I would like to emphasize that

         13  Citizens Union advocates as broad of a publishing

         14  requirement as is reasonably possible. Specifically

         15  we do not believe that Intro. 119 should apply only

         16  to official reports mandated by the Administrative

         17  Code. Rather, it should apply to all reports

         18  mandated by the City Charter and Executive Orders,

         19  along with those reports mandated by the

         20  Administrative Code.

         21                 I understand why some officials would

         22  be concerned that mandating the publication of too

         23  many reports would create confusion and thus defeat

         24  the purpose of this legislation.

         25                 That leads me to my second point. The
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          2  manner in which the reports are published is just as

          3  important as what reports are required to be

          4  published.

          5                 As the former executive of an on-line

          6  information company, I understand the critical

          7  importance of making information on the web readily

          8  accessible to users. Therefore, I urge the Council

          9  to require that the City's web site maintain a

         10  search engine and archive functionality to ensure

         11  that the public can find the reports easily.

         12                 Users should be able to search for

         13  reports using the following criteria: Title of the

         14  report. Agency or other government entity issuing

         15  the report. Date on which the report was issued. And

         16  if possible, keyword.

         17                 Centralizing the reports and

         18  maintaining a basic search engine and archive

         19  functionality are relatively easy to accomplish.

         20                 Agencies need only send the reports

         21  via e-mail to a central web master who would be

         22  responsible for uploading all reports to the City's

         23  web site.

         24                 Or public information officers at the

         25  various agencies would be able to upload the reports

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            59

          1  GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  using the City's recently purchased web management

          3  software.

          4                 In sum, through both an expanding

          5  publishing requirement and a centralization of data,

          6  the goal of this legislation to make reports of the

          7  City government more accessible to the public will

          8  be achieved in a most effective and efficient

          9  manner.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 Are there any questions over here?

         13                 I just want to thank you, I also want

         14  to thank, because I know the Gothem Gazette, which

         15  is part of Citizens Union, and certainly an example

         16  of public information, and I want to say that we

         17  will, while you were talking, actually previous, I

         18  suggested DORIS to Nick, saying that would be a

         19  better idea. So, there are lots of suggestions here

         20  and we will certainly incorporate them into the

         21  bill.

         22                 Thank you very, very much.

         23                 Our next panel is David McCraw,

         24  Deputy General Counsel of the New York Times

         25  Company. Stephanie Abrutyn, General Counsel of
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          2  Newsday. And Elisa Velazquez, who I know well,

          3  Legislative Counsel of the New York State Trial

          4  Lawyers Association.

          5                 Thank you. I also want to mention

          6  Donna DeCostanza, who is here and who is a terrific

          7  counsel to the Select Committee, has suggested that

          8  I mention that we have received a statement from the

          9  Public Advocate's Office, which we will incorporate

         10  into the record with some suggestions, but basically

         11  supporting Intro. 119.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 I don't see any of your colleagues

         14  here, so go ahead with your testimony.

         15                 MS. VELAZQUEZ: Thank you, Council

         16  Member Brewer.

         17                 Good afternoon, and thank you for the

         18  opportunity to address the Council regarding Intro.

         19  119. On behalf of the New York State Trial Lawyers

         20  Association, I'd like to applaud Council Member

         21  Brewer and the sponsors of Intro. 119 for proposing

         22  a common sense first step measure that would make

         23  information and the workings of government more

         24  accessible to New Yorkers.

         25                 When the Select Committee on
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          2  Technology in Government met last April, we

          3  discussed different ways that enhanced technology

          4  could be used to facilitate and liberalize

          5  information sharing so individuals could better

          6  access and participate in their government and

          7  community.

          8                 We also discussed the importance of

          9  new technological initiatives that would improve

         10  government accountability.

         11                 As I said, Intro. 119 is a good first

         12  step in achieving these goals. The bill requires the

         13  Administration, the Council, City agencies and other

         14  Citywide elected officials to post official reports

         15  on the City web site, on the City's web site. This

         16  requirement would not only make it easier for

         17  citizens to examine documents containing relevant

         18  public information about a vast number of municipal

         19  issues, it would foster accountability on the part

         20  of elected officials in City agencies which is very

         21  important.

         22                 Posting this material does act as a

         23  check to ensure that these entities are complying

         24  with their mandates under the Charter and the

         25  Administrative Code, and as Council Member Brewer
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          2  pointed out in her opening remarks, it can also

          3  reduce the administrative costs to these entities

          4  associated with responding to FOIL requests and

          5  information requests.

          6                 While it is clear that the

          7  requirements of Intro. 119 will go a long way in

          8  improving the public's access to government

          9  information, and enhancing accountability, I would

         10  like to offer a couple of suggestions that could

         11  maybe make the bill better.

         12                 A little bit of a side issue, it is

         13  imperative that the City Charter and the

         14  Administrative Code be available on-line.

         15                 I know that the Council is working

         16  with the Administration to achieve this, but I

         17  cannot stress how important it is to have New York

         18  City's governing documents available to the public

         19  on-line.

         20                 Citizens are the primary consumers of

         21  City services, and in order to navigate their way

         22  through a particular agency or through a particular

         23  issue, they need to have, understand the basic

         24  structure of City government, and those documents

         25  really set that out.
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          2                 So, I strongly urge the members of

          3  this Committee to take a leadership role in making

          4  sure that that actually happens.

          5                 As it's been said, the primary intent

          6  of Intro. 119, in making important public documents

          7  more accessible, would be furthered if the

          8  definition of report was expanded to include

          9  studies, surveys, financial plans, publications,

         10  policy statements, environmental impact statements

         11  and the like.

         12                 It is also important that it's made

         13  clear that reports issued by independent

         14  Charter-mandated commissions or offices, such as the

         15  Commission on Public Information and Communication,

         16  the Voter Assistance Commission, or the Independent

         17  Budget Office, be included in the definition of

         18  reports, expanding the definition of report in such

         19  a way would capture other critical public

         20  information that might not be interpreted as falling

         21  within the current definition.

         22                 In addition to posting the reports,

         23  Intro. 119 requires the Administration, City

         24  agencies and elected officials to file a monthly

         25  statement listing the reports that they are required
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          2  to post with the Office of New Media, or what is now

          3  known as the Office of Enterprise Application,

          4  Management and Support.

          5                 These lists also be public

          6  information, and, therefore, available to the public

          7  upon request.

          8                 However, because Intro. 119 does not

          9  explicitly make these monthly statements available

         10  to the public upon request, an individual would

         11  arguably have to file a formal FOIL request with

         12  that agency to get access to the list.

         13                 Because the goal of Intro. 119 is to

         14  remove barriers for an individual to access

         15  government information, it would be better if the

         16  bill stated clearly that an individual can obtain

         17  these monthly listings simply by requesting them

         18  without having to take the step of FOILing that

         19  agency to get the information.

         20                 Also, Intro. 119 could require

         21  whatever agency the Council decides to be the

         22  oversight agency, to post those lists as well.

         23                 Intro. 119, it's a good government

         24  and good consumer bill, it could save the City and

         25  its citizens time and money, it would put New York
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          2  City at the forefront of e-Government development,

          3  and, NYSTLA therefore urges the Council to consider

          4  and pass the bill and take into consideration the

          5  suggestions for improvement that have been offered

          6  by the witnesses here today.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 We'll go, if it's okay with the rest

         11  of my colleagues, to the next two speakers.

         12                 One question, Elisa, I hope you think

         13  about is, I do get countered sometimes when I say

         14  that it will save time and money, particularly on

         15  the FOIL issue. So, maybe think about that, how can

         16  I could answer that.

         17                 When I did ask that question in a

         18  meeting of City agency staff, because I, myself, we

         19  get 300 e-mails a day in my office, that is because

         20  we're very e-mail friendly, and people know that and

         21  so they e-mail us and we try to respond, and I am

         22  trying hard to develop as much as possible

         23  information on either my site or City Council site

         24  because then we can direct them, when I asked

         25  wouldn't this bill assist you in doing that,
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          2  agencies, because you, too, must answer e-mail, the

          3  feeling was that so much of their request is

          4  individual complaints or questions and they couldn't

          5  refer as much to the site.

          6                 I don't believe that's true, but

          7  particularly in the FOIL situation it would seem to

          8  me that it would save them time and money. So,

          9  something to think about.

         10                 Stephanie, do you want to go ahead?

         11                 MS. ABRUTYN: Thank you for accepting

         12  my testimony today about the benefits of making New

         13  York City agency reports available over the web.

         14                 While Newsday takes no position on

         15  any particular piece of legislation at this time, we

         16  appreciate the opportunity to speak to the general

         17  issue of access to government information and the

         18  benefits of making such information available on the

         19  world wide web.

         20                 The availability of agency reports on

         21  the web streamlines access to important public

         22  documents by creating an efficient means of

         23  distribution that's available 24 hours a day, seven

         24  days a week. By placing these reports on line, the

         25  City can create a reliable way to keep the public

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            67

          1  GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS AND TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  abreast of developments and findings that affect New

          3  Yorkers' lives.

          4                 The improved access also promotes

          5  civic awareness by giving the public direct access

          6  to the work the government does using tax dollars.

          7  The end result better implements the spirit of

          8  openness enmeshed in New York City's history and

          9  laws by ensuring effective, efficient and widespread

         10  access to the work of City agencies.

         11                 Posting on the web gives all

         12  journalists simplified access to these documents,

         13  relieving them of the expense and burden of

         14  physically retrieving and copying agency reports, or

         15  going through the technical procedures outlined in

         16  the Freedom of Information Laws.

         17                 In addition to facilitating public

         18  and media access, putting the reports on-line also

         19  translates to reduced clerical work for the City and

         20  its agencies.

         21                 Unfortunately, although well

         22  intentioned, the procedures mandated by FOIL can be

         23  cumbersome and painfully slow. Many agencies require

         24  that a written request be submitted before they'll

         25  consider providing a copy of any document to a
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          2  journalist. A phone call isn't enough.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Is that written

          4  request, can it be done e-mail or only written

          5  snail-mail (sic) or you're not sure?

          6                 MS. ABRUTYN: It varies depending on

          7  the agency. Although the statute doesn't make a

          8  specific provision for it, a number of agencies

          9  actually require the request to be submitted on

         10  their particular agency's form. And, so, you

         11  actually have to go to the agency, get a copy of the

         12  FOIL form and fill it out. Even if what you've asked

         13  for is clear, in terms of sending it by e-mail or

         14  some other way, it's a procedural thing that they

         15  just -- it's a hoop that we have to jump through

         16  oftentimes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

         18                 MS. ABRUTYN: For a busiest journalist

         19  working in the field, they're on a deadline, even if

         20  the request is acted upon immediately it still

         21  results in senseless delay by having to go through

         22  this process.

         23                 Moreover, once a request is

         24  submitted, an agency rarely acts immediately. Our

         25  experience is that no matter how simple the request
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          2  or the response, it ends up at the bottom of a queue

          3  behind many other requests, including those requests

          4  that prompt complex legal evaluations or whose

          5  responses might require hours to compile.

          6                 The response time in the law is

          7  followed only in form. The most common response to

          8  any FOIL request is a form letter acknowledging

          9  receipt of the request and including a polite we'll

         10  get back to you when we have time to look at it.

         11                 Even when the agency ultimately

         12  produces copies of the requested materials, it's

         13  often weeks or months after the initial request was

         14  submitted.

         15                 To journalists whose job it is to

         16  report news, these kinds of delays are fatal. I

         17  mean, imagine a headline City Agency Completed

         18  Report Two Months Ago.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You might want to

         20  summarize some of the specifics if you can, but you

         21  know, just because we're running a little bit on

         22  time shortage.

         23                 Thank you, Stephanie.

         24                 MS. ABRUTYN: Two examples. Last

         25  spring Newsday reporter Margaret Ramirez began
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          2  looking into the infection of 19 patients at a

          3  Brooklyn clinic with hepatitis C. The Health

          4  Department conducted an investigation and issued a

          5  22-page report. When the investigation first became

          6  public, Ms. Ramirez attempted several times to get a

          7  copy by calling people in the Public Affairs

          8  Division. She was told she had to submit a FOIL

          9  request. That was several months later.

         10                 She eventually did submit a FOIL

         11  request on March 2nd. Immediately thereafter she got

         12  a response from the agency saying we'll get back to

         13  you. A month later she got a response to her

         14  request, which was denied because the report wasn't

         15  even final.

         16                 So, it took the agency 30 days to

         17  send her a notice saying our report's not done yet.

         18                 She appealed the denial and it took

         19  the agency three weeks to deny her appeal for the

         20  same reasons.

         21                 They said it would probably take

         22  about a month for the report to be finalized. A

         23  month later there was no sign of the report.

         24  Eventually the report was deemed final on June 25th,

         25  but Ms. Ramirez had no way of knowing that it had
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          2  been done. The agency ultimately sent her a copy

          3  which she didn't receive until July 2nd. Between the

          4  agency and the reporter there were multiple

          5  telephone calls, seven letters were exchanged, the

          6  journalist had to wait until three months after the

          7  investigation was completed and a week after the

          8  document was final to get a copy of a report issued

          9  by a City agency that everybody believed she was

         10  clearly entitled to.

         11                 Similar experience by Newsday

         12  reporter Tony DeStefano when he attempted to

         13  research lawsuits filed against the City. He went to

         14  the Comptroller Office's web site, which had a

         15  number of copies of reports containing the

         16  information he was looking for on the web site, but

         17  not the most current version of the report.

         18                 He therefore was forced to put his

         19  work on hold, track down a copy of somebody in the

         20  Public Affairs Office to make a request. They

         21  happily accepted his request by telephone and

         22  researched and located a copy of the report for him,

         23  but he then had to go down to the agency and get it

         24  or send a messenger because it was 80 to 100 pages

         25  long. And, so, again, there was a several day delay
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          2  for a copy of something that he clearly was entitled

          3  to.

          4                 Following Ms. Ramirez' story, she got

          5  a number of phone calls through citizens who read

          6  her story and said where can I get a copy of this

          7  report? Can we get it from you?

          8                 Had the report been on the agency web

          9  site, that would have been a simple solution to all

         10  of those issues.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Well, that makes

         12  my point that if, in fact, she also contacted the

         13  agency, they would have had to track it down and

         14  they could have just referred it to the web site

         15  also, saving time and money.

         16                 MS. ABRUTYN: Absolutely. And in her

         17  case she clearly wouldn't have needed to contact the

         18  agency, because she would have found it on the web

         19  site the day that it was released, or the day after

         20  it was released, instead of having to go through a

         21  week-long delay.

         22                 In pointing to the glacial pace at

         23  which FOIL requests are handled, I'm not intending

         24  to suggest that agency employees tasked with

         25  responding to these requests are neglecting their
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          2  responsibilities. While there certainly are some bad

          3  apples out there, when we follow up on requests, we

          4  find that many of the delays simply result from lack

          5  of manpower and time within the agencies. It's an

          6  open secret among journalists and their lawyers that

          7  a phone call or a letter from a lawyer gets the

          8  process moving, not because anybody is afraid of me

          9  or because I'm guaranteed to get results, but

         10  because a phone call from a lawyer raises a shadow

         11  of legal action that pushes the request to the top

         12  of the pile.

         13                 It seems to us that it would save

         14  everybody a lot of time and effort if that wasn't

         15  necessary in the first place.

         16                 Making agency reports available on

         17  the web provides a simple, straightforward solution

         18  to all of these procedural problems. It ensures that

         19  agency reports are available to everyone in a timely

         20  manner, without unnecessary paperwork or delays, and

         21  the reduction in requests that naturally occurs,

         22  also will free agency personnel to deal with other

         23  foil requests.

         24                 We encourage the Council to adopt a

         25  bill requiring that all reports issued by City
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          2  agencies that are not otherwise exempt from

          3  disclosure be made available immediately on the

          4  worldwide web.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 MS. ABRUTYN: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: David, thank you

          9  for joining us again.

         10                 MR. McCRAW: Thank you.

         11                 David McCraw from the New York Times.

         12  Because I realize that other people were speaking to

         13  some of the details of the legislation and some of

         14  the problems, I thought I would take a very brief

         15  opportunity to talk about how this particular piece

         16  of legislation fits in with two other pieces of

         17  legislation, which have attempted to achieve some of

         18  the same goals of access to government and haven't

         19  worked out as well as they might.

         20                 I am here on behalf of the New York

         21  Times, although the New York Times does not take a

         22  position at this time on this particular proposal. I

         23  would like to call attention to these two prior

         24  initiatives that much like Intro. 119 had the goal

         25  of assuring that there would be an open government,
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          2  a government open to the people of New York.

          3                 The first I would urge the Committee

          4  to take a close look at the City's experience with

          5  Charter Section 1062, which I know you're familiar

          6  with from my prior testimony here. Section 1062 was

          7  added to the Charter in 1989, effective in January

          8  1990, and what it did was require the City to

          9  publish an annual directory of electronic databases

         10  available from the agencies to the citizens. A great

         11  idea. It requires that the databases be identified

         12  by nature of the information in there, the official

         13  who is responsible for it, what he had to do to go

         14  to make a request. In the 13 years that Charter

         15  provision 1062 has been in effect, there has been

         16  exactly one issue of one edition of the Directory

         17  published, that was in 1993, none before and none

         18  since.

         19                 I would urge the committees involved

         20  in this round of legislation to take a look at why

         21  1062 was allowed to become a dead letter.

         22                 It had, like Intro. 119, well

         23  intentioned goals. What prevented it from

         24  succeeding? Are there enforcement mechanisms that

         25  need to be added? Does there need to be more
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          2  specific oversight by some body or official? Is

          3  there funding that needs to be earmarked? Are there

          4  cultural changes within the agency, within the

          5  government as a whole that need to take place, that

          6  need to be systematically encouraged.

          7                 Understanding more fully what went

          8  wrong with 1062 will assist the Council in knowing

          9  what needs to be done to make Intro. 149 in similar

         10  legislation work.

         11                 In particular I would note the

         12  absence of an enforcement mechanism in Intro. 149,

         13  and raise the same issue about whether again we're

         14  likely to have a very, very well crafted noble piece

         15  of legislation that doesn't actually become a

         16  reality.

         17                 My second point about 1062 is this:

         18  As the Council pursues the idea of having reports

         19  on, available on the web, it would be a great idea

         20  to revise and revitalize Charter Section 1062. It's

         21  still on the books, it still requires the City to

         22  put out a director of electronic databases. It is an

         23  important roadmap to all electronic access,

         24  including that that's envisioned by 149.

         25                 Second, and finally, I'd like to call
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          2  the Committee's attention to the City Freedom of

          3  Information Law, a piece of legislation that is

          4  often overlooked and many people even deeply

          5  involved with FOIL issues don't know it exists.

          6                 As you know, there's a state FOIL law

          7  but its effectiveness is severely curtailed, as

          8  Stephanie was testifying to earlier, by the absence

          9  of any real deadlines, compelling agencies to

         10  provide documents in a timely fashion.

         11                 The state FOIL stands in contrast to

         12  the federal Freedom of Information Act, where there

         13  are in fact deadlines imposed by statutes saying

         14  when the agency needs to respond.

         15                 While far from perfect, the federal

         16  FOIA at least recognizes the timely response of an

         17  important aspect of access. You need to get the

         18  information sooner, rather than later. State FOIL

         19  has had that gap in it since its creation.

         20                 Several years ago the City tried to

         21  remedy the deficiency in the state law by passing a

         22  City FOIL that, like the federal FOIA, imposed

         23  deadlines for responses by agencies. The City FOIL

         24  is found in Volume 43 of the rules of the City of

         25  New York, Section 10-5.
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          2                 I won't try to summarize all of 1-05

          3  here, but the most important provision sets a

          4  deadline to 15 business days for an agency to

          5  respond to a request.

          6                 Unfortunately, in August of 2000, in

          7  a case called Matter of Legal Aid versus New York

          8  City Fire Department, the Appellate Division

          9  invalidated rule 1-05. The Court held that the rule

         10  conflicted with the state FOIL law and on that basis

         11  should not be followed. Despite that ruling, I do

         12  believe the City can have a FOIL law that is tougher

         13  than the state FOIL, just as it has a City Human

         14  Rights Law that is more protective of employees than

         15  the State Civil Rights Law.

         16                 Indeed, I think the problem with Rule

         17  1-05 is procedural and technical. It is set up as a

         18  rule designed to implement the State FOIL, not as a

         19  separate City law.

         20                 I believe that the same rule, the

         21  same scheme with deadline, could be enacted as a

         22  legislative initiative by the City in the

         23  Administrative Code and it would be valid.

         24                 That sort of timetable imposed on

         25  agencies would be an important addition.
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          2                 I think at the same time, sort of the

          3  same principle involved, Intro. 149 suffers from the

          4  failure to have deadlines in it as well, that

          5  telling the agencies, dictating to the agencies how

          6  long after a report is created, that it needs to be

          7  on the web would be important in making sure that

          8  access is timely and it avoids the situation where

          9  the report is available, is finished but not

         10  available on the web, and someone then still has to

         11  go through the FOIL process.

         12                 I would urge the City Council to look

         13  at taking whatever steps are necessary to revalidate

         14  Rule 1-05, the City FOIL law. Laws like Intro. 119

         15  are not likely to advance public awareness unless

         16  agencies are compelled by law to make timely

         17  responses.

         18                 Once again, I applaud the sponsors of

         19  Intro. 119 for their commitment to an open

         20  government in New York, I hope that this is only the

         21  beginning.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 I want to thank Council Member Leroy
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          2  Comrie for sitting this out, we've got one more

          3  quick panel.

          4                 But do you have any questions,

          5  Council Member?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You said at

          7  one part that there was a delay, 15-day delay in the

          8  process of requesting information; is that just for

          9  basic stuff that was already released and finalized?

         10                 MR. McCRAW: What I was referring to

         11  was the fact that actually the delay could be much

         12  longer, that under the City FOIL law, the FOIL rule,

         13  it said that within 15 days the agency had to

         14  respond. One of the problems currently with the

         15  State FOIL is there is no deadline for actually

         16  responding with documents, even if they exist. What

         17  the State FOIL says is within five days the agency

         18  has to say, hey, I got your letter, but sets no

         19  timetable after that for actually producing the

         20  documents.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I see. Thank

         22  you. So, then in order words, you might not ever

         23  hear back from them unless you send follow-ups and

         24  phone calls and that just totally eliminates the

         25  opportunity for any reporter to get research?
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          2                 MR. McCRAW: That's correct. And as

          3  Stephanie was suggesting, at least the reporters

          4  have the advantage of having a newspaper that can

          5  call attention to the lack of response. They have

          6  lawyers they can call.

          7                 I worry about citizens, and this was

          8  true when I was at the Daily News, when I was at the

          9  Times, and I'm sure it's true at Newsday, we get

         10  calls from citizens who say I read your name in the

         11  paper, I've had a FOIL request at such and such an

         12  agency for two years and can you help me. We're not

         13  really in private practice to do that, but I feel

         14  bad for citizens that, you don't have the kind of

         15  resources we have, and then the law, it doesn't

         16  really help them with that problem.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Elisa, how would

         18  the legislation, I think you talked about it a

         19  little bit, help you without the benefit, of course,

         20  of a newspaper, but benefit of attorneys, help you I

         21  think get more materials?

         22                 Obviously you want it in a timely

         23  fashion, but do you think there would be a savings

         24  on the part of the agencies?

         25                 MS. VELAZQUEZ: Absolutely. Besides
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          2  all of the citizens that try to access this

          3  information, you know, whether it's attorneys

          4  representing citizens, or, you know, the dailies, it

          5  would be an incredible resource to have. You know,

          6  you don't have to spend that much time, it's right

          7  at your fingertips, you don't have to make a phone

          8  call, you don't have the people at the agencies

          9  having to respond to your phone calls, having to

         10  say, okay, well, do we have to put this in writing

         11  or not put this in writing? Getting back to you,

         12  then looking for the information, then, you know, a

         13  lot of people ask for information electronically,

         14  whether they can do that electronically, how much

         15  will it cost, getting back to you on cost, it really

         16  would reduce a lot of red tape, and would, you know,

         17  would give the information so that wherever you are

         18  and whatever kind of process, whether you're an

         19  attorney representing a client, whether you want to

         20  know information about a school, whether you want to

         21  get some kind of report that HHC does because you're

         22  looking into nursing home care, you wouldn't have to

         23  -- you would be able to access that quickly and the

         24  agency, the employees at the agency would not have

         25  to spend time, where they could be working on other
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          2  things, to respond to this.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Stephanie, do you

          4  want to add anything to that?

          5                 MS. ABRUTYN: Just based on my

          6  experience, and I'm sure David's experience, the

          7  amount of time in any month that our journalists

          8  spend and that we spend, writing letters, making

          9  follow-up phone calls, trying to get information out

         10  of agencies, is pretty significant, and for every

         11  moment that we're spending doing that, there's

         12  somebody in a City agency who is reading it, who is

         13  responding to the phone call, and who is hopefully

         14  doing something as a result of that phone call - all

         15  of that time would be saved if this information were

         16  simply available on the web.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         18  much, all three of you, and we will take into

         19  consideration in a real way what you propose.

         20                 Thank you so much.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: May I?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yes, go ahead,

         23  Councilman.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Is this still

         25  within the last six months, or within the last eight
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          2  months that you're having the same type of problems?

          3  Because I know it was worse under the previous

          4  Administration?

          5                 MS. ABRUTYN: Certainly there has been

          6  somewhat of a change in the last six months in terms

          7  of getting information once the requests are

          8  reviewed and considered, but the process by which we

          9  have to follow to get a FOIL request to be looked at

         10  by somebody who is in the position to locate and get

         11  the information, there really hasn't been a huge

         12  change. I don't know if David can --

         13                 MS. VELAZQUEZ: And also just to

         14  dove-tail on that, the agencies have been

         15  conditioned over the last eight years to respond or

         16  not respond in a certain way.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         18                 MS. VELAZQUEZ: And even though now

         19  things are getting a little bit easier, you know,

         20  that has not been a priority of the agencies at all,

         21  it's actually, you know, not being forthcoming with

         22  information was kind of what they were doing. So,

         23  it's going to take a lot of time for that culture to

         24  change.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. Thank
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          2  you. Thank you.

          3                 MR. McCRAW: Just briefly, I would say

          4  that Stephanie and I and representatives of other

          5  newspapers met with the Mayor's legal staff shortly

          6  after the Bloomberg Administration came in and they

          7  were positive about trying to help us with the

          8  agencies, help us expedite FOIL and invited us to

          9  call when they had problems.

         10                 In some cases that has helped, in

         11  some cases it hasn't, and I would underscore, it's

         12  very agency specific. There are FOIL officers who

         13  are very good about returning your calls, there are

         14  others that do everything possible to avoid you. But

         15  I do believe there is a beginning of that cultural

         16  change.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 The next panel is Judith Foulkes,

         20  from Jewish Guild for the Blind; and I believe we

         21  have a representative of the library here, okay?

         22  Erminio is here.

         23                 I don't see Micaela here from the

         24  Municipal Arts Society. Okay.

         25                 Judith, go right ahead. Delighted to
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          2  have you here.

          3                 MS. FOULKES: Good afternoon. Thank

          4  you very much for inviting us here to talk about

          5  accessibility of web sites to the disabled, and

          6  specifically the ADA implications.

          7                 What we thought we would do is focus

          8  on the Guild's web site, and I have a handout that's

          9  coming out that has some screen shots of that web

         10  site so that you have an illustration of what we

         11  would be talking about. And I understand from the

         12  discussions that have gone previous to mine, that

         13  there's a lot of consideration on the time that it

         14  would take to prepare documents and how those

         15  documents themselves would be specifically available

         16  to the disabled.

         17                 So, if we take a look at the Guild

         18  web site, it is being designed primarily to be

         19  accessible to the blind and visually disabled

         20  individuals.

         21                 In our determination to become

         22  compliant or accessible to those individuals, the

         23  site has also become accessible to others, as well;

         24  for instance, people with Parkinson's or cerebral

         25  palsy, those kinds of motor function disabilities.
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          2                 What we were endeavoring to do and

          3  what we have achieved is that the site is compliant

          4  to the web access initiative of the world wide web

          5  consortium. This is actually a group of companies,

          6  Microsoft, IBM and so forth, that have a consortium

          7  of different standards on the web. They have

          8  developed a disabled standard, which is very, very

          9  similar to the ADA standard, but it's actually an

         10  international one, and it has different levels. We

         11  are compliant to the third level.

         12                 What we're going to do is go through,

         13  just very briefly, what the third level means, and

         14  you'll see how simple this can be achieved and how

         15  it would actually widen the audience.

         16                 Specifically when you are on a web

         17  site, what is critical is navigating to get to the

         18  documents that you want to make available to your

         19  public. In order to do that, you must view the web

         20  site. For the disabled individual that is blind,

         21  that is done through a screen reader. Screen readers

         22  read from left to right. You cannot have columns on

         23  the page, because if you read across two columns it

         24  won't make sense. It can't read down one column and

         25  up the next, it has to be purely textual.
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          2                 What's also important for a vision

          3  impaired person is the kind of font that is used,

          4  the color that is used, the background that is used,

          5  and the style of the font that is used. So, I've

          6  listed each of those things here. Black on white

          7  obviously is one. Background color, it's important

          8  not to have, for instance, the background of these

          9  curtains here, and some kind of white text. That

         10  would be extremely difficult for someone with an

         11  impairment to read.

         12                 In our work with the vision impaired,

         13  we have found that some people are able to read

         14  yellow on black, some were able to read white on

         15  black, and others black on white.

         16                 So, what we have done is designed

         17  each of our pages, and you can see the attachments

         18  there, I have enclosed the one for yellow on black.

         19  This is done through technology, it was not a

         20  difficult thing to create, there are things called

         21  style pages, and, so, we created a style that just

         22  said convert this entire page into yellow on black

         23  and that was it. It was very simple and not

         24  time-consuming at all.

         25                 I think I should highlight here,
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          2  though, that that is not available for the adobe PDF

          3  (phonetic). Okay, the yellow on black.

          4                 It's also imperative for the vision

          5  impaired that there be no moving graphics on the web

          6  site. Sometimes people have like a flag in the

          7  corner that waves. That cannot be dealt with by a

          8  vision impaired person. The flickering causes them

          9  to be unable to concentrate.

         10                 The navigation that we have designed

         11  is designed for both blind and vision-impaired

         12  individuals. The mouse is a major challenge for the

         13  disabled individual, also those with motor

         14  functions. There are new mouses just announced last

         15  week where they will detect icons on a screen and

         16  actually generate a bump, and using reading

         17  technology, the name of the icon can be read back to

         18  the individual.

         19                 However, tabbing is typically what is

         20  used to go to navigate a Windows desktop, it's also

         21  what is primarily used to navigate a web page. So,

         22  instead of having to move your mouse to the

         23  appropriate length, you can just tab and the pages

         24  have to be designed that way. It's something that

         25  you have to be conscious of for every single page,
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          2  so is more time than a normal maybe web site

          3  development.

          4                 It's also imperative that any

          5  graphics have tabs on them so that they can be

          6  identified.  As the screen reader moves across the

          7  graphic, this will say this is a photograph of Mayor

          8  so and so presenting something to somebody else,

          9  it's imperative that those tabs be there, otherwise

         10  the screen reader will simply say graphic.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: All right. I have

         12  a question as you're going through, and I don't mean

         13  to cut you off, it's just we've got some time

         14  constraints here.

         15                 MS. FOULKES: Sure.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: We had a

         17  discussion earlier when you were here with the

         18  representative from DoITT about whether or not

         19  NYC.GOV is compliant, and I think they are.

         20                 MS. FOULKES: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: But are there

         22  some ways in which the adobe can be made also ADA

         23  accessible? In other words, what we're trying to

         24  see, we run into this challenge where we want to

         25  make sure every government site is accessible, but
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          2  we wanted to find out if there's technology that

          3  allows us to do it in a way that makes it easier on

          4  the agencies and not have to do html?

          5                 I just didn't know if this discussion

          6  has come up with your working groups, or if you had

          7  this ongoing discussion with, you know, City of New

          8  York or other government sites?

          9                 MS. FOULKES: We haven't had the

         10  discussion with anyone other than individually when

         11  we created our site.

         12                 When we created our site we decided

         13  to, for instance, put our newsletter up as adobe,

         14  for its visual content for the people who have no

         15  vision problems. We also have a text only version

         16  that was not difficult to create. The newsletter is

         17  created in Word, all we did was convert the Word to

         18  text. It's not pretty, but it's legible by a screen

         19  reader, so it doesn't have to be adobe.

         20                 We also looked into putting the word

         21  "documents" up there themselves so that someone

         22  with a screen reader could actually download the

         23  document and then the screen reader could read Word.

         24  So, it's not imperative really that the adobe be

         25  read, although it can be with the latest versions of
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          2  the screen readers.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you.

          4                 I don't mean to cut you off, but we

          5  are running late.

          6                 MS. FOULKES: Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Is there anything

          8  else that you want to add to your wonderful

          9  testimony? Because you have terrific slides here.

         10                 MS. FOULKES: Well, it really was just

         11  I wasn't sure at what level of knowledge I was

         12  dealing with on the other side of the table, so I

         13  thought I would start from the ground up. That's

         14  what's there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: It was very

         16  helpful.

         17                 Erminio, go ahead. We'd love to hear

         18  from you.

         19                 MR. D'ONOFRIO: Good afternoon. My

         20  name is Erminio D'Onofrio, I'm Head of Information

         21  Services at the Science, Industry and Business

         22  Library of the New York Public Library.

         23                 I'm very pleased to have the

         24  opportunity here today to testify, essentially in

         25  support of Intro. 119. And I'm just going to try and
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          2  make a little summary of my presentation here by

          3  making a couple of points about the activities that

          4  the Science, Industry and Business Library has been

          5  engaged in in the last six years since we've opened

          6  there.

          7                 We have provided three classes on how

          8  to use the Internet to over 50,000 mostly New

          9  Yorkers. Just last week we have doubled laptop

         10  docking access. We've gone from 43 to 83 outlets.

         11                 This is by way of saying that if

         12  there is any notion out there that the public is not

         13  ready to use information in an electronic format, we

         14  just need to dispel that notion pretty much.

         15                 There are some still out there that

         16  are not comfortable with technology, but I'm afraid

         17  that as we move along that's going to be a very,

         18  very, very small minority.

         19                 In general, the level of comfort is

         20  substantially high. For all of the reasons that I've

         21  gone into I guess and arriving there, it is

         22  essential to provide easy access to government

         23  information for a number of reasons. One of them has

         24  to do with the fact that the public essentially pays

         25  for this information to be gathered, collected, and
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          2  it doesn't, I don't think, want it to be laying in a

          3  drawer in somebody's desk. If it pays for this

          4  information to be collected, I would assume that it

          5  wants that information to be made public and as

          6  readily and as easily as possible.

          7                 Obtaining New York City government

          8  information has never been a straightforward

          9  process. There is really no system in place, no

         10  distribution system in place, that would allow

         11  libraries, for example, to get copies, individual

         12  copies of all kinds of reports.

         13                 There was a system that we sort of

         14  shared with the municipal reference libraries, when

         15  they got multiple copies of things they would send

         16  us one. The problem was at some point they decided

         17  that they could no longer afford to do that and they

         18  just stopped doing that. That meant that whenever

         19  the press, the New York Times or any other

         20  newspaper, mentions a City agency report, the

         21  public, trust me, comes into the library, regardless

         22  of what that report is about, asks for it, and they

         23  demand to see it. Now, sometimes we're lucky because

         24  some agencies had been good about it and we've been

         25  able to get things. Many times, many times we just
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          2  have to struggle, literally struggle to get in touch

          3  with the agency, and occasionally, I hate to use the

          4  word, beg for that particular report so that we can

          5  process it, catalog it, put it on the shelves and

          6  make it available to the public that's asking for

          7  it.

          8                 The three essential reasons why we

          9  support this legislation is that:

         10                 - City government informational

         11  matter will be available much more speedily to the

         12  public who will have the opportunity to check on the

         13  activities it pays for with its tax monies.

         14                 - Libraries will not have to struggle

         15  to obtain this kind of information and they will

         16  save time and specific processing costs, that will

         17  help us.

         18                 - Government agencies themselves will

         19  not have to contend with telephone or mail requests

         20  for the material they publish and will realize

         21  savings on printing costs that can be applied to

         22  other activities.

         23                 We just have two or three cautions, I

         24  guess, about the bill. One has to do with the fact

         25  that, I don't know, the most important criticism for
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          2  material that's made available on the Internet is

          3  that it's here today, who knows whether it will be

          4  there tomorrow.

          5                 That brings about the issue of

          6  preservation and making sure that the material that

          7  we now make available also in electronic format, or

          8  only in electronic format, will be available today,

          9  tomorrow, 50 years from now, and until anybody that

         10  wants it has the opportunity to look at it.

         11                 The other concern that we have is

         12  that there be some sort of a search engine at the

         13  state and federal level. There are locator systems

         14  that are being used. I don't know how efficient or

         15  how great they are, those systems, but you may want

         16  to look into them to probably at least have an idea

         17  of what they do and how they might be used.

         18                 And the last thing is that

         19  occasionally, although we might want or wish to see

         20  paper disappear all together, occasionally it might

         21  be important to still have some things and papers.

         22                 We're not going to, I hope, move to a

         23  100 percent electronic environment and forget

         24  everything about paper, because it might be a futile

         25  attempt, I think.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The testimony

          4  from both of you was wonderful, and I hope that we

          5  can continue to keep in touch, as we refine this

          6  bill. But also I think several of the earlier

          7  speakers said this is the beginning, hopefully we'll

          8  pass this and then keep evolving, because this is a

          9  changing technology. But I can promise you we will

         10  always have the paper, we have a digital divide, no

         11  matter how hard we work toward eliminating it, and I

         12  think for many reasons we should have the paper.

         13                 Are there any other questions,

         14  Council Member?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: No.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, thank you

         17  both so much.

         18                 MR. D'ONOFRIO: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And I hope we can

         20  continue to keep in touch with you.

         21                 I want to thank particularly the

         22  staff for making this hearing happen today, and my

         23  colleague, Council Member Comrie, for staying with

         24  us. This hearing is adjourned. Thank you.

         25                 (The following written testimony was
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          2  read into the record.)

          3

          4

          5  Written Testimony Of:

          6  Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum

          7

          8  Intro. No. 119

          9  Committee on Technology In Government

         10

         11  September 18, 2002

         12

         13  Testimony Submitted By Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum

         14

         15                 The Public Advocate for the City of

         16  New York recognizes the importance of making

         17  government reports easily accessible to the public

         18  via the Internet. All of us in City government have

         19  a responsibility to facilitate the sharing of

         20  information with the public as widely as possible.

         21  Our office, for instance, has made it a priority to

         22  have an informative and user-friendly Internet site,

         23  located at www.pubadvocate.nyc.gov. This site hosts

         24  reports issued by the Office in the most

         25  interactive, user-friendly fashion possible.
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          2                 The Public Advocate believes the City

          3  should be a leader in using the Internet to

          4  encourage citizen involvement in government, and

          5  commends Chairwoman Brewer and the Committee on

          6  Technology in Government for their involvement in

          7  bringing this issue to the fore. Intro. 119 is an

          8  important step in the right direction, however, we

          9  have substantive concerns with certain aspects of

         10  the bill.

         11                 The most important question not

         12  answered by the bill is what constitutes an

         13  "official report." The bill refers to reports that

         14  are mandated by the administrative code to be

         15  distributed to the public as "official reports," but

         16  this definition is not exclusive. Without a more

         17  definite description, it is difficult to assess the

         18  burden of compliance in terms of cost, time and

         19  resources. For that reason, we suggest this be

         20  spelled out more clearly.

         21                 We have one other, smaller, concern.

         22  In its current form intro. 119 requires all covered

         23  agencies to designate a webmaster who will be

         24  responsible for uploading reports onto the City's

         25  official website. This may be unduly prescriptive;
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          2  surely, individual agencies are in the best position

          3  to determine appropriate staffing for this function.

          4                 The Public Advocate reiterates  her

          5  strong support of an inclusive e-government

          6  environment in which the public's interest and

          7  participation is solicited. This bill is an

          8  important step in that direction.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 3:00 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 18th day of September 2002.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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